1983

Guy L. Kirkwood v. Board of Review of The Industrial Commission of Utah, Department of Employment Security : Plaintiff And Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action wherein Plaintiff-Appellant applied for unemployment compensation after being fired from his job with Helper City. Unemployment compensation was denied on the basis of Section 35-4-5-(b)(1), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as Amended [Discharged for Misconduct].

DISPOSITION IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING

This matter was considered by a Job Service Representative on July 4, 1982, by an Appeal's Referee on September 2, 1982, and by the Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah on April 19, 1983. This appeal is from the final decision of the

Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah, denying Plaintiff-Appellant's appeal from the Appeal Referee's decision Number 83-A-3482, dated September 2, 1983, wherein the findings and conclusions of the Job Service Representative were sustained.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff-Appellant seeks an Order of this Court reversing the denials of unemployment compensation rendered below, or in the alternative, granting a new evidentiary hearing and remanding this matter for hearing on the merits of the case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Guy L. Kirkwood was employed by Helper City in 1972 and rose to the responsibility of Street Superintendent by 1977 and continued his employment without incident for nearly ten years. He was elected by the Helper City Employees to serve as a member of the Helper City Board of Appeals (this Board considered and ruled upon employee management disputes). In addition, Plaintiff-Appellant was a long time member of the Helper City Volunteer Fire Department.

On July 1, 1982, Plaintiff-Appellant discovered that his wife was having an affair with another man, that she had removed all of the household furniture, dishes, bedding and food from the house of the parties, and that she had taken the two minor children of the parties and moved in with her lover. Plaintiff-Appellant was devastated.

Plaintiff-Appellant missed work on July 1, 1982 and made

arrangements to meet with an attorney on July 2, 1982 regarding his domestic problems. Plaintiff-Appellant obtained a substitute to cover his duties as Street Superintendent for July 2, 1982 in order to meet with his counsel. At 7:00 a.m. on July 2, 1982, a newly elected Helper City Councilman, Jack Ori, appeared at the home of Plaintiff-Appellant and demanded that he meet with the Mayor and City Council at 9:00 a.m. Plaintiff-Appellant declined to attend the meeting because of his appointment with legal counsel and was summarily fired.

Plaintiff-Appellant was knowledgeable about the termination policies of Helper City by virtue of his experience on the Appeals Board. This policy provided a three-step procedure in cases of employee misconduct,

1. Verbal warning,
2. Written warning and one week suspension without pay,
3. Hearing before the Mayor, Councilmen, and Appeals Board.

None of these procedures were followed in this case.

Plaintiff-Appellant applied for unemployment compensation from the Job Service representative on July 6, 1982. The representative refused to allow Plaintiff-Appellant to read or review any statements by his employer, Helper City, and made the following finding:

You were discharged from your job with Helper City on July 2, 1982 when you refused to meet with the Mayor and City Council after an

unexcused absence. Such a request was not unusual in that you were the Street Department Supervisor.

From this finding, the Job Service representative concluded. Under Section 35-4-5-(b)(1) you were discharged for an act or omission in connection with employment which is deliberate, willful or wanton, and adverse to the employer's rightful interest.

As a result of the foregoing conclusion, Plaintiff-Appellant was denied any unemployment compensation. Plaintiff-Appellant had no funds for legal counsel, having been fired from his job, and having discovered that his wife had left him with a twelve month delinquency on house payments, the phone service having been terminated for non-payment, and having discovered numerous other outstanding bills which had not been paid by his wife prior to their separation. Notwithstanding these difficulties, Plaintiff-Appellant sent letters to the various administrative hearing boards on August 11, 1982 (See Page 38 - Record on Appeal), March 29, 1983 (See Page 27 - Record on Appeal), April 29, 1983 (See Page 21 - Record on Appeal), and June 13, 1983 (See Page 4 - Record on Appeal), in an effort to present evidence regarding his claim for unemployment compensation and the wrongful treatment which he had received from Helper City.

Plaintiff-Appellant has been unemployed for fourteen months since his termination by Helper City. Prior to July 1, 1982 he had

been a loyal and dedicated employee for over ten years. His efforts to present evidence and have his case reviewed had been severely limited by his modest reading and writing capabilities.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE EVIDENCE FAILS TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S DISCHARGE WAS FOR MISCONDUCT AS DEFINED BY SECTION 34-4-5-(b)(1).

The only evidence submitted to the Job Service Representative regarding the alleged grounds for termination was a payroll sheet which showed that Plaintiff-Appellant had worked five hours rather than eight hours on June 18, 1982 (See Page 29 - Record on Appeal). There was no evidence in the payroll sheets relating to July 1, 1982. In this case, there is no record of excessive absenteeism. There is a record that shows five hours work rather than eight hours on June 18, 1982. There is no record that prior warnings had been given to the Plaintiff-Appellant. In addition, Plaintiff-Appellant had arranged for a substitute to cover his employment responsibilities while he was seeking legal counsel to help resolve his domestic difficulties.

In the case of Janucik v. Department of Employment Security and Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah, 569 P.2d 1112, the Court stated:

It has frequently been held in other jurisdictions that excessive absenteeism without good cause constitutes willful misconduct, particularly where the employee fails to report to his employer, or continues to be absent or tardy after warnings by the employer.

In this case, the record shows one day of five hours rather than eight hours work. The record does not show a record of any work whatsoever having been given the employee by the employer. In addition, the domestic difficulties of Plaintiff-Appellant should certainly be considered as they relate to the issue of good cause and absenteeism. Furthermore, as stated in Plaintiff-Appellant's letter of June 13, 1983 (See Page 4 - Record on Appeal), Plaintiff-Appellant asked for but was denied the right to read or review the statement of his employer as to the basis for his firing, thus denying him notice and an opportunity to be heard regarding the finding of misconduct.

POINT II. THE RECORD PERSUASIVELY SHOWS THE ACTION OF THE APPEALS REFEREE AND OF THE BOARD OF REVIEW WAS ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS, AND UNREASONABLE, AND WITHOUT SUBSTANTIAL SUPPORT IN THE RECORD.

Plaintiff-Appellant perhaps made errors in judgment regarding the finding of a substitute employee during a time of extreme marital conflict, but his action is more properly characterized as leaving work voluntarily, without cause, if anything. Moreover, the events of July 1, 1982 may constitute reasonable cause if fairly considered.

Plaintiff-Appellant is an unlearned man but has worked consistently and without incident as a Street Supervisor for Helper City for over ten years. He has limited training and ability in the basic skills of reading and writing. The substance of his evidence may be gleaned from the four letters previously

referred to which he submitted to the various administrative hearing boards. From these letters, the Board of Review should have found an absence of willful and wanton conduct on the part of Plaintiff-Appellant. There was no finding whatsoever regarding culpability. Kirkwood's intent was not specifically considered by the Appeal's Referee nor by the Board of Review, therefore the determination of misconduct under Section 35-4-5-(b)(1) was wrong as a matter of law. In the case of Continental Oil Company v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah, 568 P.2d 727, the Court found that the purpose of the Employment Security Act was:

To cushion the effect of unemployment by the payment of benefits to a worker in the event of his unemployment.

Citing a related case, Boyntan Cab Company v. Neubeck, 296 N.W. 636, the Court considered the meaning of misconduct and stated:

If mere mistakes, errors in judgment, or in the exercise of discretion, minor and but casual or unintentional carelessness or negligence, and similar minor peccadilloes must be considered to be within the term misconduct, and no such element as wantonness, culpability, or willfulness with wrongful intent or evil design is to be included as an essential element in order to constitute misconduct within the intended meaning of the term as used in the Statute, then they will be defeating as to many of the great mass of less capable industrial workers, who are in the lower income brackets and for whose benefit the act was largely designed, the principal purpose and object under the act of alleviating the evils of unemployment by cushioning the shock of a lay-off, which is apt to be the most serious to such workers.

The Court in discussing the Boyntan case further stated

that, "a statute for a forfeiture should be strictly construed and the penal character of the provision should be minimized by excluding, rather than including, conduct not clearly intended to be within the provision."

Based upon the foregoing principals, the Court stated in the Boynton case:

The intended meaning of the term misconduct is limited to conduct evincing such willful or wanton disregard of an employer's interest as is found in deliberate violations or disregard of standards of behavior which the employer has the right to expect of his employee, or in carelessness or negligence of such degree or recurrence as to manifest evil culpability, wrongful intent or evil design, and to show an intentional and substantial disregard of the employer's interest or the employee's duties and obligations to his employer. On the other hand, mere inefficiency, unsatisfactory conduct, failure in good performance as a result of inability or incapacity, inadvertencies or ordinary negligence in isolated instances, or good faith errors in judgment or discretion are not to be deemed misconduct within the meaning of the Statute.

In the instant case, the Appeal's Referee did not find that Kirkwood's conduct showed a deliberate, willful, or wanton disregard of his employer's interests. Kirkwood's intent was not specifically considered by the Appeal's Referee and without a finding of culpability, the determination of misconduct was wrong as a matter of law.

The Appeal's Referee and the Board of Review should have applied the "equity and good conscience" standard set out in the Employment Security Act and considered the reasonableness of

claimant's actions. This they did not do. Despite claimant's functional incapacities in reading and writing, his letters do provide evidence which should be judged by this standard. The record shows no such consideration. In the case of Salt Lake City Corporation v. Department of Employment Security and Marion Lynch, 657 P.2d 1312, the Court discussed the standard of equity and good conscience and stated as follows:

In determining what constitutes equity and good conscience, the commission must consider the reasonableness of the claimant's actions . . .

In this case, the Appeal's Referee refused to allow the Plaintiff-Appellant to read and review the stated grounds for termination submitted by Helper City, and in addition the Board of Review failed to consider the various letters submitted by Plaintiff-Appellant as evidence towards the issue of misconduct and a finding of culpability on the part of Plaintiff-Appellant.

The record in this case does not provide support for a finding of misconduct on the part of Plaintiff-Appellant. Both the Continental Oil case and the Boyantn Cab Company case require that intent be specifically considered, and without a specific finding of culpability, the conclusion of misconduct was wrong as a matter of law.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiff-Appellant respectfully submits that the Job Service Representative's determination, the Appeal's Referee's decision and the decision of the Board of Review of the Industrial

Commission of Utah were in error as a matter of law and that the denial of unemployment compensation to Plaintiff-Appellant should be reversed, or in the alternative, this case should be remanded for an evidentiary hearing on the merits.