1983

Guy L. Kirkwood v. Board of Review of The Industrial Commission of Utah, Department of Employment Security : Defendant's Brief

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal pursuant to Section 35-4-10(i), Utah Code Annotated 1953, from a decision by the Board of Review, Industrial Commission of Utah, affirming the decision of the Appeal Referee which denied unemployment compensation to the Plaintiff, pursuant to Section 35-4-5(b)(1), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, on the grounds that the Plaintiff had been discharged from his employment for actions connected with his work which were disqualifying.

DISPOSITION BY LOWER AUTHORITY

Plaintiff filed an initial claim for unemployment compensation effective July 4, 1982. After consideration of the reasons for the Plaintiff's discharge, a local office representative denied benefits to the Plaintiff and issued a written decision pursuant to this determination on July 28, 1982.

Plaintiff filed a timely appeal to the Appeals Tribunal on August 9, 1982. The Appeal Referee affirmed the denial of benefits to the Plaintiff pursuant to Section 35-4-5(d)(1) in Case No. 82-A-3482. A copy of this decision was mailed to Plaintiff at his last-known address on September 2, 1982.

On March 29, 1983 Plaintiff appealed to the Board of Review of the Industrial Commission, which concluded that Plaintiff's appeal was not timely made and affirmed the denial of benefits in Case No. 82-A-3482, 83-BR-215.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the decision of the Defendant and asks that judgement be entered by the Court allowing benefits to the Plaintiff from July 4, 1982 until he is no longer otherwise eligible or, in the alternative, that the matter be remanded for a hearing on the merits of the case. Defendant seeks affirmance of the decision of the Board of Review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant is in substantial agreement with the history of the Plaintiff's employment with Helper City; however, the events that occurred on

1982 and thereafter as reported in the Plaintiff's Brief vary slightly from the information recorded in the Department records.

Specifically, the Plaintiff, hereinafter referred to as claimant, reported that he told the men who worked for him that he would not be in for work on July 2. R.0041 He did not attempt to contact his supervisor because he "could never find him." R.0041 There is no information regarding the claimant's having made arrangements for a substitute to cover his job. When he was asked by the City Council member to attend the meeting on July 2, the claimant refused, but stated that he would go to work. R.0041 He refused to return the city truck when asked to do so. R.0041 There is nothing in the record to indicate that the claimant explained his personal difficulties to his employer. All of the information contained in this paragraph is recorded on a "Statement of Reason for Quit or Discharge," Form 680, taken by a Department representative on July 6, 1982 and signed by the claimant. R.0041 Information supplied by the employer was not received until after July 8, 1982, and therefore, was not available to the Department representative or the claimant at the time of his interview. R.0040

The claimant filed a timely appeal to the Appeals Tribunal on August 9, 1982. R.0036-0038 An appeal hearing was scheduled for August 30, 1982 in the Price Job Service Office. R.0035 Claimant was informed on the notice of hearing issued by the Appeals Tribunal that he could request rescheduling of the hearing if he had good cause for so doing. He was further placed on notice that his failure to attend the hearing would result in a decision being issued based upon the information available. See Addendum 1, herein.

On August 25, 1982 the Appeals Tribunal received an attendance card upon which the claimant had marked that he would be in attendance at the hearing. R.0034 He failed to appear. The employer was present at the hearing and gave testimony in the case.

The decision of the Appeal Referee was issued on September 2, 1982. R.0028 Claimant made no other contact with the Appeals Tribunal, the Board of Review or any other department within the agency prior to the receipt of his appeal to the Board on March 30, 1983. R.0027

ARGUMENT

POINT I

IN REVIEWING DETERMINATIONS OF THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION UNDER THE UTAH EMPLOYMENT SECURITY ACT THE COURT WILL AFFIRM THE FINDINGS OF THE BOARD OF REVIEW IF SUCH FINDINGS ARE SUSTAINED BY SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

The standard of review in unemployment insurance cases is well established. Section 35-4-10(i), Utah Code Annotated 1953, provides in part:

In any judicial proceedings under this section the findings of the Commission and the Board of Review as to the facts if supported by evidence shall be conclusive and the jurisdiction of said Court shall be confined to questions of law.

This Court has consistently held that where the findings of the Commission and the Board of review are supported by evidence, they will not be disturbed. Martinez v. Board of Review, 25 U. 2d 131, 477 P. 2d 587 (1970). In analyzing the above-referenced review provisions, this Court has stated:

Under Section 35-4-10(i) the role of this Court is to sustain the determinations of the Board of Review unless the record clearly and persuasively proves the action of the Board of Review was arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable. Specifically, as a matter of law, the determination was wrong; because only the opposite conclusion could be drawn from the facts. Continental Oil Company v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah, Utah, 568 P. 2d 727,729 (1977).

POINT II

THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF REVIEW THAT THE CLAIMANT'S APPEAL TO THE BOARD WAS UNTIMELY AND THAT THE BOARD THEREFORE LACKED JURISDICTION TO FURTHER CONSIDER THE CASE ON ITS MERITS IS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT EVIDENCE AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

The time period provided by statute within which a claimant may appeal from an adverse decision of an Appeal Referee to the Board of Review is ten (10) days. Section 35-4-6(c) of the Act provides in pertinent part:

The parties shall be promptly notified of such referee's decision and shall be furnished with a copy of the decision and the findings and conclusions in support thereof and such decision shall be deemed to be final unless, within ten days after the date of mailing of notice thereof to the party's last known address, or in the absence of such mailing, within ten days after the delivery of such notice, further appeal is initiated pursuant to the provisions of Section 35-4-10.

Section 35-4-10(b) in referring to the decision of the Appeal Referee states as follows:

... and the decision is the final decision of the commission unless within ten days after the mailing of notice to the party's last known address or in the absence of a mailing within ten days after the delivery of notice, further appeal is initiated under the provisions of this section.

Although Sections 6(c) and 10(b) are express and do not grant the Board discretion to extend the ten day time limit, the Commission, pursuant to authority granted it under Section 35-4-11(a)(1) of the Act, has adopted Section A71-07-1:5.e. of the Department of Employment Security of the Industrial Commission Rules and Regulations which allows the claimant the opportunity to show "good cause" for late filing. If he fails to do so, his case shall be dismissed on such grounds; if he succeeds it shall be further decided on its merits.

Section A71-07-1:5.e. provides for the handling of untimely appeals to the Board in the same manner as late appeals to the Appeals Tribunal by reference to Section A71-07-1:4.f.(3), which states in part:

Where it appears that any appeal...may not have been filed within the time allowed by law... the appellant...shall be notified and be given an opportunity to show that such appeal...was timely or was delayed for good cause. If it is found that such appeal... was not filed within the applicable time limit and the delay was without good cause, it shall be dismissed on such ground. If it is found that such appeal...was timely or was delayed for good cause, the matter shall be decided on the merits. Rules and Regulations

This rule was apparently promulgated by the Commission to provide a claimant an opportunity to have his case decided on its merits when an appeal is filed late, but for reasons beyond the claimant's control. Pursuant to these regulations the record in the claimant's case was reviewed by the Board before issuance of its decision on the timeliness issue. It is the Defendant's contention that the Board's decision that the claimant failed to meet this burden of proof is supported by competent evidence.

in determining that the claimant failed to show good cause for his untimely appeal, the Board was told only that the claimant "was in a mental stress due to family problems (divorce)." R.0027 It is noted that even in the claimant's Brief to the Court no additional information is given with regard to what specific problems prevented the claimant from appealing the Appeal Referee's decision for more than six months. The record clearly supports a finding that pendance of a divorce was the sole reason for the claimant's failure to avail himself of his appeal rights in timely fashion. As the Defendant pointed out in its earlier motion the claimant was able to file a timely appeal to the Appeals Tribunal at the end of July despite the fact that he had lost his job and his family within the preceeding month. Of controlling import in this case becomes the question of establishing good cause for the claimant's delay.

Defendant draws the attention of the Court to their recent decision in the civil action of Isaacson v. Dorius, Utah, 669 P. 2d 849 (1983), which supports the Defendant's assertion that the limitations established for the purposes of complying with filing requirments control the very functioning of the judiciary in determining the jurisdiction necessary to grant the right to appeal. In regard to unemployment compensation issues, this Court has previously held that the failure to show good cause for the late filing of an appeal divests the Industrial Commission, as well as the Court, of jurisdiction to hear the case on its merits. Theissens v. Department of Employment Security, Board of Review of the Industrial Commission, Utah, 663 P. 2d 72 (1983).

A decision based upon such information as provided by the claimant to the Board is not an abuse of discretion. This position is supported in the case of Gocke v. Wiesley, 18 Ut. 2d 245, 420 P. 2d 44 (1966), where this Court stated that the Commission has the usual prerogatives as the trier of the facts including the authority to draw any reasonable inferences as long as they are supported in the record. The Gocke case cites Salt Lake County v. Industrial Commission, 101 Ut. 167, 120 P. 2d 321 (1941) in further stating that it is the duty of the Court to examine the record and to affirm the decision unless it can be said as a matter of law that the conclusion drawn from the facts was wrong because only the opposite conclusion could be drawn. Defendant asserts that the conclusion drawn is most reasonable in light of the facts presented and thereby remains outside the jurisdictional authority of this Court.

POINT III

THE APPEAL REFEREE WAS NOT IN ERROR IN DETERMINING FROM THE TESTIMONY OF THE EMPLOYER'S WITNESSES AND THE WRITTEN INFORMATION GIVEN BY THE PLAINTIFF IN THE RECORD THAT THE PLAINTIFF WAS DISCHARGED FROM HIS EMPLOYMENT FOR DELIBERATE, WILLFUL ACTION ADVERSE TO HIS EMPLOYER'S INTEREST, GIVEN THE PLAINTIFF'S FAILURE TO ATTEND THE HEARING AND ABSENT ANY REQUEST FOR POSTPONEMENT OF THIS HEARING ON THE PLAINTIFF'S PART.

The alternative relief sought by the claimant of granting a new evidentiary hearing is not properly before this Court since the decision of the Appeal Referee included evidentiary findings taken in the proper course of hearing procedure, the Referee's decision is without error, and further since the lack of jurisdiction by the Court precludes further review absent any

... However, to evidence the absence of any mistake, a review of the records included for the benefit of Court.

When a separation issue is the basis for a decision denying unemployment compensation, the decision must be predicated upon a finding that the claimant seeking to collect these benefits was discharged from his employment for disqualifying reasons as defined in Section 35-4-5(b)(1) of the Act.

Section 35-4-5(b)(1) of the Utah Employment Security Act provides as follows:

5. An individual shall be ineligible for benefits or for purposes of establishing a waiting period:

(b)(1) For the week in which the claimant was discharged for an act or omission in connection with employment... which is deliberate, willful, or wanton and adverse to the employer's interest...and thereafter until the claimant has earned an amount equal to at least six times the claimant's weekly benefit amount in bona fide covered employment.

The Appeal Referee had sufficient evidence before her to support a finding that the claimant's actions were in willful disregard of the employer's rightful interest. The facts reveal that the claimant was given a clear alternative to return to work for the meeting or be fired. In choosing not to comply with the reasonable request of his supervisor, the deliberateness of his actions are manifest. The adverse affect to the employer was in having no supervisor available to direct the waiting work crew, a responsibility which belonged solely to the claimant. These elements satisfy the criteria for establishing a disqualification for benefits as provided in Section 35-4-5(b)(1) of the Act and are supported in the case law. Richardson v.

v. Commonwealth, Unemployment Compensation Board of Review, Pennsylvania Commonwealth, 427 A. 2d 734 (1981); Urso v. Commonwealth, Unemployment Compensation Board of Review, Pennsylvania Commonwealth, 346 A. 2d 70 (1979). Also see 26 ALR 3rd 1333 (1979) and Supplement, 1983.

Plaintiff has asserted that both the Appeal Referee and the Board of Review erred in failing to apply the equity and good conscience standard set out in the Act and in not considering the reasonableness of the Plaintiff's actions. This standard is established in Section 35-4-5(a) which has application only in cases involving the voluntary termination of employment. No consideration of equity and good conscience is prescribed in the language of Section 35-4-5(b)(1) which governs the payment of benefits subsequent to a discharge from employment. Salt Lake City Corporation v. Department of Employment Security and Marion Lynch, Utah, 657 P. 2d 1312 (1982) was cited as precedent for the claimant's contention. However, the issue in that case was whether a former employee was entitled to unemployment compensation after quitting her job with Salt Lake City. Defendant can determine no reasonable application of equity and good conscience as presented by the facts of this case since no issue of voluntary termination is present.

On Page 9 of the claimant's Brief the following statement appears:

In this case, the Appeal's Referee refused to allow the Plaintiff-Appellant to read and review the stated grounds for termination submitted by Helper City...

Defendant's response is that the Appeal Referee did not have an occasion to meet with the claimant since the claimant did not appear for the hearing and, therefore, the Referee had no opportunity to allow or deny the claimant

to be heard. Defendant again asserts there is no evidence of error in the facts of this case so as to require the Court to exercise its jurisdiction over this matter.

CONCLUSION

The determination of the Board of Review, that it lacked jurisdiction to further consider the claimant's case on its merits based upon the claimant's timely appeal to the Board from the decision of the Appeal Referee, is supported by competent evidence and should, therefore, be affirmed.